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The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission™) alleges as follows:

L _SUMMARY

1. This case involves three distinct but related Ponzi schemes conducted by
Defendants Anthony C. Zufelt (“Zufelt™) and Joseph A. Nelson ("Nelson™). First, between June
2005 and June 2006, at least 36 persons' invested at least $2,922,000 in so-called “Income
Stream Accounts” offered by Zufelt, Inc. (“*ZI"}.% Second, between July and December 2006, at
least 11 persons invested at least $770,000 in promissory notes offered by Silver Leaf
Investments, Inc. (“SLI"). Zulelt owns and controls ZI and SLI. Zufelt, Nelson and Defendants
David M. Decker, Jr. (“David Decker™) and Cache D. Decker (“Cache Decker”) (collectively,
the “Deckers”) lured persons to invest in Z1 and SLI by claiming that: (1) ZI and SLI would pay
investment returns of up to 220%; (2) Zufelt owned a profitable merchant services business {i.e.,
a business that processes credit card transactions); (3) investments would be repaid from and
secured by the primary asset of that business {(known as a “merchant portfolio™); (4) the invested
funds would be used to develop Zufelt’s merchant services business: and (3) ZI was registered
with the Commission.

2. These claims were materially false or misleading. Zufelt did not own a profitable
merchant services business, did not own or control a merchant portfolio, and had virtually no
means to repay investors, Nor did Zufelt devote the invested funds to developing a merchant
services business. Instead, Zufelt used the money primarily 10 make monthly payments to

investors, pay his own personal expenses, pay compensation and bonuses to Nelson and the

: Each married couple who invested together is counted as a single investor in this

Complaint.

z Zufelt, Inc. is the d.b.a. name for Zufelt Business Services, Inc. Zufelt Business

Services, Inc. is referred to throughout this Complaint as “Zufelt, Inc.” or “Z1.”



Deckers, and fund other businesses unrelated to the merchant services industry. Zufelt also gave:
(1) at least $66,000 to his former wife, Relief Defendant Jennifer M. Zufelt; (2) at least $50,000
to his current girlfriend, Relief Defendant Shae L. Morgan; and (3) at least $61,000 to his
brother-in-law, Relief Defendant Garth W. Jarman, Jr. Further, no transactions in securities
offered or sold by or for ZI or SL{ have been registered with the Commission, or are eligible for
an exemption from registration.

3. Of the at least $3.7 million invested in ZI and SLI, Zufelt repaid approximately $1
million to investors in the form of purported “income stream™ and principal payments, thereby
creating the illusion of legitimate investment returns.

4. Nelson conducted the third Ponzi scheme, and it is still ongoing. From at least
June 2005, Nelson solicited at least $12 million dellars from more than 100 persons to invest in
promissory notes offered by JON, Inc, ("JCN), JON Capital, LLC, (“JCN Capital™) and JCN
International, LLC (“JCN International™) (collectively, the “Nelson Companies™), all of which
Nelson owns and controls. Certain other persons invested with Nelson personally. Nelson has
told his investors — many of whom are fellow members of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter
Day Saints (“L.IDS) that Nelson has identified and targeted through church connections and
during church functions — that he is engaged in the business of purchasing merchant portfolios,
holding them for a certain period of time, and then selling them for a profit to financial
institutions, such as banks. Nelson claims that his business earns money from so-called “residual
income” generated by the merchant portfolios while they are in his possession, as well as from
profits generated when the portfolios are sold. Nelson accordingly promises his investors that he

can offer them extraordinary rates of return — up to 200% — in a very short amount of time.
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5. All of these claims are materially false or misleading. Nelson has never bought or
sold a merchant portfolio. Instead, Nelson uses invested funds to make monthly payments to
investors, pay his personal expenses, and pay his employees and associates. Nelson has also
given: (1) at least $200,000 to his brother, Relief Defendant Eric R. Nelson; and at least $46,000
to another family member, Relief Defendant Kevin J. Wilcox (“Wilcox™).

6. At various points, Nelson has been aided in his fraudulent solicitations by certain
promoters. These promoters, acting at Nelson’s direction, have brought investors to Nelson,
solictted investors on their own as representatives of Nelson’s companies, and engaged in tactics
to delay investors from demanding the return of their money.

7. Of the at least $12 million invested in JCN, JCN Capital and JCN International,
Nelson has repaid approximately $6 million to investors to date in the form of purported
payments of residual income, interest and principal, thereby creating the illusion of legitimate
investment returns. Further, no transactions in securities offered or sold by or for the Nelson
Companies have been registered with the Commission, or are eligible for an exemption from
registration.

8. By committing the acts described in this Complaint, Zufelt, Nelson and the
Deckers each committed fraud by knowingly or recklessly making materially false or misleading
statements or omissions about the companies for which they were soliciting investroents, the
promised returns on invested funds, the source of repayment of invested funds, the security of
the investments. and the intended use of the invested funds. Z1 and SLI committed fraud through
the acts of Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers, and the Nelson Companies committed fraud through
the acts of Nelson. Each Detendant directly or indirectly engaged in and, unless restrained and

enjoined by the Court, will continue to engage in, transactions, acts, practices and courses of



business that violate Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act™) [15 U.S.C.
§ 77g(a)], Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act™) [15
U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-3 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-3] thereunder. Zufelt and Nelson aided
and abetted violations by ZJ and SLI of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Nelson
aided and abetted violations by the Nelson Companies of the same provisions. The Deckers
aided and abetted vielations by Zufelt, Nelson, Z1 and SLI of the same provisions.

9. Each Defendant also violated and, unless restrained and enjoined by the Court,
will continue to viclate Securities Act Sections 5(a) and 5(¢) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77¢e(c)] by
offering to sell, selling, and delivering after sales to the public, and offering to sell through the
use or medium of a prospectus, securities as to which no registration statement was or is in effect
or on file with the Commission, and for which no exemption was or is available.

10, Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers each also violated and, unless restrained and
enjoined by the Court, will continue to violate Exchange Act Section 153(a) [15 U.S.C. § 780(a)]
by acting as an unregistered broker or dealer of securities. The Deckers also aided and abetied
violations by Zufelt of Exchange Act Section 15(a).

1. The Commission theretore seeks a judgment: (i) permanently enjoining each
Defendant from engaging in violations of Securities Act Sections 5(a), 5{c) and 17(a), Exchange
Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5; (ii) permanently enjoining Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers
from aiding and abetting violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-3; (iii)
permanently enjoining Nelson, Zufelt and the Deckers from engaging in violations of Exchange
Act Section 15(a); (iv) permanently enjoining the Deckers from aiding and abetting violations of
Exchange Act Section 13{a); {v) requiring each Defendant to pay a civil monetary penalty

pursuant to Securities Act Section 20(d) [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Exchange Act Section 21{d)(3)



[15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)3)]; (vi) requiring each Defendant to make an accounting; (vii) requiring
Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers to disgorge all ill-gotten gains, along with prejudgment interest;
(viil) barring Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers from acting as an officer or director of a public
company pursuant to Securities Act Section 20(e) [15 U.S.C. § 77t{c}] and Exchange Act Section
21{d)2) [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d¥2)]; and (ix) requiring each Relief Defendant to disgorge all
investor funds received from the Defendants.

IL_JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Securities Act Section
20(b) and 22(a) {15 U.S.C. §§ 77Ub) and 77v(a}] and Exchange Act Sections 21(d), 21{e) and 27
(15 UK.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u{e) and 78aa]. The Defendants made use of the means or instruments
of interstate commerce, of the mails, ot of the facilities of a national securities exchange in
connection with the acts, transactions, practices and courses of business alleged in this
Complaint.

13, Venue lies in the District of Utah pursuant to Securities Act Section 22(a} and
Exchange Act Section 27 because certain of the acts, practices and courses of business
constituting the violations of law alleged in this Complaint occurred within this district,
Specifically, (1) the Defendants defrauded investors in this district, (ii) many of the defrauded
investors reside in this district, (1ii) Defendants Z1, SLL JCN, JON Capital and JCN International
were located and operated in this district, (iv) Defendants Zufelt and David Decker currenily
reside in this district, and (v) all of the Relief Defendants, except Wilcox, gurrentiy reside in this

district.



IIL._PARTIES
A. Plaintiff

14, Plaintiff is the Securities and Exchange Commission.
B. Defendants

13, Anthony C. Zufelt, age 30, is a resident of Roosevelt, Utah. Zufelt owns and
controls Z1 and SLL and he is the Chief Executive Officer of Z1 and the President, Secretary,
Treasurer and Director of SLL

16.  Joseph A, Nelson, age 33, is a resident of El Dorado Hills, California. Nelson
owns and controls JCN, JCN Capital and JCN International, and he is the President and Chief
Executive Officer of JCN, Founder of JCN Capital, and President of JUN International. Nelson
also held the title of President of ZI approximately from June 2005 through June 2006.

17. David M. Decker, Jr., age 36 and a resident of Provo, Utah, served as ZI's Vice
President of Sales approximately from June 2005 through June 2006, and was named in the SL]
Private Placement Memorandum as SLT's Vice President of Development.

18. Cache D. Decker, age 32 and a resident of Leesburg, Virginia, held the titles of
Vice President of Investor Relations and Director of East Coast Development of Z1
approximately from June 2005 through June 2006.

19.  Zufelt Business Services, Inc. is a corporation organized under the faws of Utah.
During its operation, the company was headquartered in Syracuse, Utah, and operated under the
business name “Zufelt. Inc.”

20.  Silver Leaf Investments, Inc. is a corporation organized under the laws of
Nevada. Although nominally located in Henderson. Nevada, the company was located in

Syracuse, Utah during its operation.



21.  JCN, Inc. is a corporation organized under the laws of Utah, and was located in
Clearfield, Utah during its operation,

22.  JCN Capital, LLC is a domestic limted liability company organized under the
laws of Utah, and was located in Clearfield, Utah during its operation.

23.  JCN International, LLC is a domestic limited liability company organized under
the laws of Utah, and was located in Clearfield, Utah during its operation.

C. Relief Defendants

24, Jennifer M. Zufelt, age unknown, is a resident of Roosevelt, Utah, and is Zufelt’s
former wife.

Z5. Shae L. Morgan, age unknown, is a resident of Roosevelt, Utah, and is Zufelt’s
current girlfriend.

26. Garth W. Jarman, Jr., age 35, is a resident of Randlett, Utah, and is Zufelt’s
brother-in-law.

27. Eric R. Nelson, age unknown, is a resident of Provo, Utah, and is Nelson’s
brother.

28. Kevin J. Wilcox, age unknown, i3 a resident of Vacaville, California, and is
believed to be a relative of Nelson by marriage.

IV, FACTS

A, Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers Sold Credit
Card Transgaction Processing Services,

29, When merchants accept credit card payments from customers, those payments are
usually processed for a small fee by intermediate companies generally known as “processors.”
Processors also provide merchants with other services, such as fraud detection and charge

dispute resolution. This line of business is referred to as the “merchant services™ industry.



30. Processors often sell their services through independent sales agents. In
December 2002, Zufelt formed International Commerce Exchange, LLC (“ICE”), which
operated as an independent sales agent. Zufelt employed Nelson and the Deckers as salesmen.

31, ICE approached retail businesses to offer them lower rates on the fees they paid to
process credit card payments. When [CE enrolled a merchant as a customer, ICE would partner
with a processor which would split the fees it earned from the merchant’s transactions,

32, A “merchant portfolio™ is a book of business consisting of a large number of
contracts between a group of merchants and a particular sales agent or processor. The portiolio,
being a distinet group of revenue-generating contracts, is a quantifiable asset. As a result,
merchant portfolios are priced, purchased and sold among companies participating in the
merchant services industry. Although they never did so, Zufelt and Nelson told investors that
they had purchased and sold multiple merchant portfolios for a profit.

33, While Zufelt and Nelson did not buy or sell merchant portfolios, they did build a
portfolio under ICE. By 2005, ICE managed a portfolio of thousands of merchants. [t also
employed a significant number of sales and technical personnel.

34, In May 2005, Zufelt partnered with a large processor named iPayment, Inc.
Together, they formed iPayment ICE of Utah, LLC (“iPayment ICE"). Zufelt sold all of ICE’s
assets — constituting the entirety of the business — to iPayment ICE in retum for a 49 percent
interest in iPayment ICE. iPayment ICE in tumn assumed certain of ICE’s debts and gave Zufelt
enough money to repay 14 persons he and Nelson had solicited to invest in ICE. iPayment ICE
also assumed the day-to-day costs of ICE’s business, including paying overhead costs and the

salaries of ICE’s employees. Zufelt continued to run the business.



B. The First Scheme: Zufelt, Neison and the Deckers
Fraudulently Sold Investments in Zufeit, Inc.

35,  Immediately after selling ICE’s assets, Zufelt began to raise money by offering
purchase agreements for so-called “income stream accounts™ in Zufelt, Inc, (“Z17). Under the
terms of the ZI purchase agreements, an investor would purchase an “income stream,” which
purportedly entitled the investors to a portion of the income generated by ZI’s merchant
portfolio. From June 2005 through June 2006, Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers raised at least
$2.922.000 from at least 36 persons. Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers solicited investments
broadly, from family members to former business colleagues and friends to remote
acquaintances. Zufelt also solicited most of his own employees. Zufelt and Nelson developed
written solicitation materials and two websites (zufeltine.com and purchasedincome.com), and
Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers distributed the written materials to prospective investors and
directed them to the websites.

36.  Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers lured prospective investors with extremely high
rates of return. Most ZI investors were promised total investment returns of up to 220%,
consisting of (1} the return of the principal amount invested, {2) monthly payments for up to
three and a half years made at an annual rate 0 28.8% of the principal, and (3} a premium
payment of 20% of the principal when ZI repurchased the income stream. Certain other
investors, particularly those approached by Nelson, were simply told that they would double or
triple their money.,

37.  Because most of the ZI investors were persons of ordinary means, Zutelt, Nelson
and the Deckers encouraged investors to borrow against their homes to invest. Many did so.

38.  While soliciting investments in ZI, Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers knowingly

and/or recklessly made several materially false or misleading statements or omissions, including

10



(1) that ZI was a profitable business, (2) that the investments would be repaid with revenue
earned from a merchant portfolio owned and controlled by Zufelt, (3) that the merchant portfolio
would serve as security for the investments, (4) that the invested funds would be used to develop
Zufelt’s merchant services business, and (5) that ZI was registered with the Commission.

1. Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers Made Materially False
and Misleading Statements about ZI’s Profitability.

39. Zufelt told certain investors that ZI was profitable, and told others that ZI was
making a great deal of money. Nelson made wild claims in order to mislead investors into
believing that ZI was profitable. To one investor, Nelson claimed that ZI was making “crazy
money,” and the investor could therefore expect to double his money within a year. To another
investor, Nelson stated that he was “pulling in so much money that [he] didn’t know what to do
with it all.” Zufelt and Nelson also drafted written matenals, which were given to prospective
investors and reprinted on zufeltinc.com and purchasedincome.com, in which they claimed that
ZI had a “proven capacity ... to develop and maintain return ratios of 28.8% on income stream
purchases,” and in which they suggested that ZI had “positive cash flow.” The Deckers claimed
in emails sent to prospective investors that ZI was “already a profiting entity.” All of these
statements were materially false or misleading. ZI was not profitable. According to an audit
report prepared for ZI for the year ended December 31, 2005, the company never generated a
profit, and lost $424,024 from its inception in 2002 through December 31, 2005. Further, from
January 1 through June 30, 20006, the auditors also stated that the company lost another
$1,177.957. The audit report noted that ZI was “a development stage enterprise” that had “not
yet generated sigmficant revenues from sales of its products and services,” and that “[s]ince its
inception, [ZI] has devoted substantially all of its efforts to raising capital.” Zufelt concealed

these facts from investors.
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40.  While Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers led investors to believe that ZI was a
profitable merchant services business, the truth was that Zufelt had sold the business in return for
a minority interest in iPayment ICE. Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers concealed this arrangement
from investors.

41,  Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers also concealed the fact that iPayment ICE was
also not profitable. When Zufelt repaid ICE’s investors in May 20035, each investor received a
letter which stated that:

During the past two years [CE has worked through the process of developing a

business model that has been capable of producing volume sales of merchant

credit card accounts to retail establishments and other end users .... During this
development period ICE did not generate a profit has yet to generate a net profit.

iPayment ICE remained unprofitable during the period in which Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers
were raising money for Z1. In fact, iPayment ICE lost money in every month of its existence,
from June 2005 through March 2007, when iPayment stopped paying the costs of the business
and withdrew from the joint venture,

42. Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers knew, or were reckless in not knowing, that
neither ZI nor iPayment ICE were profitable. Zufelt and Nelson knew that ICE was not
profitable when Zufelt sold ICE’s assets and operations to iPayment ICE in May 2005 because
they were partners in the business together before Zufelt sold t. The Deckers knew ICE was not
profitable because they received the May 2005 letter described above when their investments in
ICE were returned. Zufelt also knew that iPayment ICE was not profitable while he was
soliciting investors because he received monthly financial statements from iPayment ICE which
showed the company’s continuous losses. The Deckers were also given iPayment ICE financial

stalements showing losses.
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2, Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers Made Materially False and
Misleading Statements about ZI’s Ability to Repay Investors.

43.  Because ZI was “a development stage enterprise” that had “not yet generated
significant revenues from sales of its products and services,” it had almost no means to repay
ZI's investors. While Zufelt owned several businesses, virtually the only money that flowed into
Z1 was investor money. Zufelt knowingly concealed these facts from ZI's investors. Because
Nelson and the Deckers knew that the merchant services business existed under iPayment ICE
rather than 71, they likewise knew or were reckless in not knowing that ZI did not have the
means (o repay investors.

44, Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers nevertheless falsely claimed that “residual”
income generated by Zufelt’s merchant portfolio would be used to repay obligations to ZI's
investors. The ZI investments were called “income stream accounts,” and investors were led to
believe that their investments entitled them to a specified portion of the income generated by
Z1's merchant portiolio. Further, the purchasedincome.com website stated that Z1 would be
around for a long time “generating revenue to cover evervthing agreed to.” The truth, however,
was that ZI received no residual income from the merchant portfolio held by iPayment [CE
during the penod in which Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers were soliciting investors for Z1.
Moreover, under the terms of the agreement between Zufelt and iPayment, Zufelt had no right to
recelve any such income. Zufelt concealed these facts from ZI's investors. The Deckers
likewise knew, or were reckless in not knowing, these facts because they were shown certain
1iPayment ICE financial statements during the period in which they were soliciting investors for

Z1.



3. Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers Made Materially False and
Misieading Statements about the Security of the ZI Investments,

45.  The ZI purchase agreements state that the investments are “secured by residual
portfolios in the merchant service sector of Zufelt Inc.” Zufelt and Nelson drafied these
agreements, and they and the Deckers gave them to investors. The websites created by Zufelt
and Nelson also stated that Z1 held multiple merchant portfolios,

46.  Zufelt told prospective investors that their investments would be secured because
he owned and controlled a large merchant portfolio. Written materials drafted by Zufelt and
Nelson, and distributed by Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers, stated that £1°s portfolio was worth
approximately $7 million. Zufelt also told investors that, if necessary, he could sell the portfolio
to repay their investments, and that he would not raise more money than he could repay by
selling the portfolio.

47.  These statements were materially false or misleading. Zufelt did not own a
merchant portfolio, but rather held a minority interest in iPayment ICE, which owned the
portfolio. Zutelt therefore did not control the portfolio, and could not use it to secure the ZI
investments or otherwise protect ZI's investors. Zufelt knew these facts, and Nelson and the
Deckers either knew or were reckless in not knowing these facts because they were aware that
Zufelt had sold all of the assets and operations of ICE for a minority interest in iPayment ICE.

4. Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers Made Materially False and Misleading
Statements about the Intended Uses of the Invested Funds.

4¥. Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers uniformly told investors that their money would
be used to develop Zufelt’s merchant services business by hiring sales personnel, opening offices
and acquiring merchant portfolios from other businesses.

49 The primary uses of the funds were concealed from the investors. First and

foremost, like all Ponzi schemes, the funds were used to repay the investors. Of the $2.922.000
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raised from investors from June 2005 through June 2006, approximately $1 million was used to
make payments to investors. Second, Zufelt paid at least $224,018 to Nelson and at least
$166,100 to the Deckers in compensation and bonuses related to their solicitation efforts. Third,
Zufelt used investor funds to pay his own personal expenses, including the payment of his home
and car loans, the acquisition of real estate, and significant cash draws for himself and his wife.
Fourth, Zufelt used investor funds to pursue businesses which had no relationship to the
merchant services industry.” While the zufeltine.com and purchasedincome.com websites
indicated that invested funds would be used for certain of these businesses — such as Fowl
Players (a business that organized hunting trips), Audio Personal Trainer {a business that sold
exercise instruction recordings) and Pelican Lake Café — Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers told
investors that their money would be used to develop ZF s merchant service business. Other
extraneous businesses — such as Fantasy Fight Club (a website forum for fans of mixed martial
arts) ~ were not revealed to investors.

50.  Zufelt knew of and concealed from ZT’s investors all the above uses of the
invested funds. Nelson and the Deckers knew that Z1 did not have sufticient income to repay
investors, they concealed from investors that Zufelt was paying them significant sums to solicit
investors, and they knew, or were reckless in not knowing, that Zufelt was using investor funds
for his extraneous businesses. Nelson and the Deckers therefore knew or were reckless in not
knowing that the invested funds were primarily used for purposes other than developing a

merchant services business.

. These businesses included: Audio Personal Trainer, LLC; Fantasy Fight Club;

Fowl Players, LLC; Liguidation Station; Mr, Z’s Pub & Grub, Inc.; P.Q).8. Plus; Pelican Lake
Café; Silver Leat Ranch, LLC; The Zufelt Academy, Inc.; Zufelt and Jarman Enterprises, LLC;
Zufelt Charters, Inc.; Zufelt Development, LLC; Zufelt Entertainment, Inc.; Zufelt Media Group,
Inc.; Zufelt Oil, Inc.; and Zufelt Ranch and Land Management, LLC.

15



51, Zufelt also concealed from investors the fact that iPayment ICE was reimbursing
the costs he incurred in developing and maintaining the iPayment ICE joint venture. In other
words, there was no need to seek investor monies for this purpose, and the very premise of the Z1
solicilation was false, because iPayment ICE was already paying those costs.

5. Zufelt Falsely Told an Investor That ZI
Was Registered with the Commigsion.

52, Inoraround April 2006, a prospective investor asked Zufelt if ZI was registered
with the Commission, Zufelt knowingly misrepresented that it was. The Deckers attended the
meeting. Zufelt’s statement was false; ZI was not registered with the Commission, nor was any
offering of its securities.

6. The First Scheme Ended after David Decker Alerted
the Utah Division of Securities to the ZI Solicitation Effort.

33, In late April 2006, David Decker met with an Examiner for the Utah Division of
Securities {the “Utah Division™). He asked if the Utah Division was aware of ZI, and the related
solicitation effort. They were not.

54.  David Decker described the solicitation efforts he and Cache Decker were
undertaking along with Zufelt and Nelson, and showed the Examiner the zufelting.com and
purchasedincome.com websites, which at the time were online and available to the general
public. David Decker admitted to the Examiner that he had directed prospective investors to the
websites.

55, The Utah Division Examiner informed David Decker that it was a violation of the
law to engage in an unregistered general solicitation of investors over the Internet. Pavid Decker
inforined Zufelt of his conversation with the Utah Division Examiner. Zufelt shut down the
websites, and the Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers slowed their efforts to solicit persons to invest

in ZI, The last investment in ZI was made in June 2006.
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C. The Second Scheme: Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers
Fraudulently Sold Invesiments in Silver Leaf Invesiments, Inc.

56.  Zufelt hired a law firm to deal with inquiries being made by the Utah Division. In
June 20086, the firm wrote a letter to the Utah Division stating that Zufelt offered and sold
unregistered securities in a manner that may have violated state and federal securities laws, and
that Zufelt would offer to repay the Z1 investors in order to settle the matter. Zufelt, however,
had already spent most of the money raised from the ZI investors

5§7.  Because Zufelt needed to continue to raise meney, Zufelt and Nelson formed a
second scheme ~ soliciting investors for yet another of Zufelt’s companies, Silver Leaf
Investments, Inc. (“SLI™). Working with the law firm, Zufelt and Nelson created SLI in June
2006, and drafted a Private Placement Memorandum for SI.I, which explained that SLI was a
“blark check company” which was “formed to acquire or establish an operating business or
several operating businesses in the restaurant industry through purchase or initial development,
acquire or participate in residential and commercial real estate development, and pursue other
business ventures ....” The SLI Private Placement Memorandum also advised prospective
investors that the securities offered would not be registered because the investment was available
only to “accredited investors™ within the meaning of Securities Act Regulation D.

58. By July 2006, Zufelt and the Deckers were soliciting investors for SLI. From July
through December 2006, Zufelt and the Deckers raised at least $770,000 from at least 11
PErsons.

59.  Zufelt did not comply with the federal securities laws with respect 1o the SL1
Private Placement Memorandum, He did not register the SLI offering with the Commission.
Nor did he structure it to quality for a registration exemption. In particular, Zufelt and the

Deckers knew that almost all of the persons they approached did not qualify as “accredited
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investors” because they either knew the investors’ financial circumstances or the investors said
they did not qualify. Nevertheless, they disregarded these facts and directed prospective
investors to fill out subscription agreements which stated that they qualified as accredited
investors.

60.  Aswith the ZI solicitations, Zufelt and the Deckers lured prospective investors by
promising extremely high rates of return. Most SLI investors were promised the same rate of
return as the ZI investors; namely, the return of their principal along with monthly payments
made at an annual rate of 28.8%, and a premium payment of 20% of the principal amount.

1. Zufelt and the Deckers Falsely Claimed that SLI Was Linked to Z1.

61, Most SLI investors were Z1 investors who were urged (o make a second
investment. Because they were still being paid regularly on their ZT investments, they believed
the investments were performing successtully and were thus encouraged to invest again. Other
SL1 investors were persons who were told by ZI investors, often their own relatives, that they
were being paid regularly. Zufelt and the Deckers — working from sales materials created by
Nelson — told the SLI investors that SLT was a more formalized incarnation of Z1, but that the
investment was for the same purpose; namely, to develop Zufelt’s supposedly profitable
merchant services business. These representations were in direct contradiction with the
statements contained in the SLT Private Placement Memorandum. In many cases, Zufelt and the
Deckers tacilitated the misrepresentation by not providing the SLI Private Placement
Memorandum until atter the investor had made the investment, or in other cases not at all.

2. Zufelt and the Deckers Made Materially False and Misleading
Statements about the Intended Use of the Invested Funds,

62, Zufeit and the Deckers told the SLI investors that their funds would be used to

develop Zufelt’s merchant services business, In truth, the invested funds were used for purposes
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not disclosed to investors. First and foremost, SLI funds were used 10 make supposed
investment return payments to the ZI and SL{ investors. Second, Zufelt spent a great deal of
money on his other businesses, particularly Fantasy Fight Club, including such expenses as
£10,000 to paint the company’s logo on Zufelt’s Dodge Viper and tens of thousands of dollars
paid to sponsor mixed martial arts fighters. Third, Zufelt used SL1 investor funds to pay for
personal and luxury expenses, including numerous trips to Las Vegas for himself and a group of
friends and employees.

63.  Zufelt knowingly concealed the true uses of the SLI investor funds. Nelson and
the Deckers knew, or were reckless in not knowing, that Zulfell was using investor funds for
undisclosed purposes because they knew Zufelt lacked other means to fund his businesses, as
well as his conspicuous personal consumption.

64.  Zufelt and the Deckers were not nearly as successful in raising money for SLI as
they were for ZI. As a result, Zufelt quickly ran out of money. By March 2007, Zufelt was
unable to continue making payments to the Z! and SLI investors.

D. The Third Scheme: Nelson Has Sold
Fraudulent Investments in His Qwn Companies.

65.  Beginning approximately in June 2005, Nelson began soliciting persons to invest
in his companies. From at least January 2007 through the present day, Nelson has convinced
over 100 persons to invest at least $12 million in JCN, JON Capital and JCN Interational
{collectively, the “Nelson Companies™), or to invest money with Nelson personally.

66.  Nelson tells his investors that he is engaged in the business of purchasing
merchant portfolios, holding them for a period ranging from four months to a year, and then

selling them for a profit to financial institutions, such as banks. Nelson claims that his business
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eamns money from the residual income generated by the portfolios while they are in his
possession, as well as from profits generated when the portfolios are sold.

67.  Nelson deceived certain of his investors into believing that he ran a legitimate
business by showing them certain documents. Among them is a JON “Executive Summary”
which claims, among other things, that JCN and its partners are “at the forefront of the credit
card industry,” that JCN is “a leading producer and provider of credit card processing and sales
throughout the United States,” that JCN had “sold one of its processing sectors for over two
million dollars in 2005, and that “[w]e continuously buy and sell [merchant] portfolios for great
returns to investors.” Nelson also showed certain investors a lengthy chart that he explained was
a list of merchants that comprised a particular merchant portfolio. Nelson also showed certain
investors a purported Ietter of intent from a third party to purchase a merchant portfolio from
JCN. Nelson used this letter to convince certain investors that he had arranged a sale that would
lead to the swift and certain return of their investments and promised returns.

68.  None of Nelson's representations were or are triue. Nelson has never purchased or
sold a merchant portfolio. Nor is JCN a leading company mn the merchant services industry. Nor
did JCN sell a “processing sector” in 2003,

69.  Nelson has lured investors by offering extraordinary rates of return. Nelson has
given most of his investors promissory notes, the majority of which range from 30 days to one
year, and have interest rates ranging from 14 to 60%, on an annualized basis. The notes also call
for the payment of an additional premium at maturity, the majority of which range from 20 to
60% of the principal amount. In other cases, Nelson did not provide a promissory note, but

rather has simply told investors that he would double their money.
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70.  Nelson has also used his position of anthority in The Church of Jesus Christ of
Latter Day Saints to lull prospective investors. During the period of Nelson's fraud, he has
served as a “Mission Leader” for his local Stake, a term which denotes a group of congregations,
and as a High Counselor. Nelson actively targets fellow LDS members, reaching out to them
through church connections and during church functions, and many if not most of his investors
are LDS members,

71.  The money invested with Nelson was not used to purchase merchant portfolios.
Instead, Nelson uses money to repay his investors in increments in a Ponzi-scheme fashion, to
pay his promoters and to pay his own lavish personal expenses, as well as those of other family
members.

72.  Nelson has been assisted at various points by promoters who, working at Nelson’s
direction, have brought prospective investors to Nelson, solicited investors on their own as
representatives of Nelson's companies, and engaged in lulling activities, such as offering
explanations for missed and delayed payments, in an attempt to delay investor demands for the
return of their money.

E. Nelson's Fraudulent Activities Are Ongoing.

73, Nelson's fraud is still ongoing. Nelson issued a promissory note to an investor as
recently as December 22, 2009, and has sent payments to investors as recently ag February 2010,
Moreover, Nelson and his promoters continue to assure investors that delayed payments will
soon be made. Nelson entered into a revised repayment agreement with an aggrieved investor on
May 7, 2010. Further, Nelson has recently relocated from Layton, Utah to El Dorado Hills,
Calitornia, has recent]ly rented new office space there, and has informed certain persons that he

infends to start a new business there.
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G. Allegations Relating to Relief Defendants

74, Zufelt has transferred at least $66,000 to Relief Defendant Jennifer Zufelt. These
transfers consisted of investor funds. Jemnifer Zufelt received these funds improperly.

75.  Zufelt has transferred at least $50,000 to Relief Defendant Shae Morgan. These
transfers consisted of investor funds. Shae Morgan received these funds improperly.

76.  Zufelt has transferred at least $61,000 to Relief Defendant Garth W, Jarman, Jr.
These transfers consisted of investor funds. Jarman received these funds improperly.

77. Zufelt and Nelson have transferred at least $200,000 to Relief Defendant Eric
Nelson. These transfers consisted of investor funds. Eric Nelson received these funds
improperly.

78. Nelson has transferred at least $46,000 to Relief Defendant Kevin Wilcox. These
transfers consisted of investor funds. Kevin Wilcox received these funds improperly.

FIRST CLAIM

Each Defendant Violated Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5

79.  The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 78 above.

80.  Each Defendant, directly and indirectly, with scienter, by use of the means or
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, has employed devices, schemes or
artifices to defraud; has made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state material facts
necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumsiances under which they
were made, not misleading; or have engaged in acts, practices or courses of business which have
been and are operating as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers or sellers of securities.

81. By reason of the foregoing, each Defendant has violated and, unless restrained
and enjoined, will continue to violate Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.8.C. § 78j(b}] and Rule

10b-5 [17 CF.R. § 240.10b-5].
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SECOND CLAIM

Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers Aided and Abetted
Violations of Exchange Act Section 18(b} and Rule 10b-5

82.  The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 81 above.

83.  Pursuant to Exchange Act Section 20(e) [153 U.S.C. § 78t{e}], Zufelt and Nelson
knowingly provided substantial assistance to the fraudulent conduct of Defendants Z1 and SLI, as
alleged in Paragraphs 1 through 80 above. Zufelt and Nelson therefore aided and abetted the
violations of Z1 and SLI and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to aid and abet
violations of Exchange Act Section 10{b) [15 U.5.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 CFR. §
240.10b-5].

84.  Pursuant to Exchange Act Section 20{¢), Nelson knowingly provided substantial
assistance to the fraudulent conduct of Defendants JCN, JON Capital and JCN International, as
alleged in Paragraphs 1 through 81 above. Nelson therefore aided and abetted the violations of
JCN, JCN Capital and JON International and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to aid
and abet violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

85.  Pursuant to Exchange Act Section 20(e}, Cache and David Decker knowingly
provided substantial assistance to the fraudulent conduct of Defendants Zufelt, Nelson, ZI and
SLI, as alleged in Paragraphs 1 through 81 above, Cache and David Decker therefore aided and
abetted the violations of Zufelt, Nelson, 21 and SLI and, unless restrained and enjoined, will

continue to aid and abet violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-§,
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THIRD CLAIM

Each Defendant Violated Securities Act Section 17(a)

86.  The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 85 above.

§7.  Each Defendant, directly or indirectly, in the offer or sale of securities, by the use
of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by the
use of the mails:. (a) has employed, is employing, or is about to employ devices, schemes or
artifices to defraud; (b) has obtained, is obtaining or is about to obtain money or property by
means of untrue statements of material fact and omissions to state material facts necessary in
order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading; and (c) has engaged, is engaged, or is about to engage in transactions, acts,
practices and courses of business that operated or would operate as a fraud upon purchasers of
securities.

88. By reason of the foregoing, each Defendant has violated and, unless restrained
and enjoined, will continue to violate Securities Act Section 17{a) {15 U.S.C, § 77a(a)].

FOURTH CLAIM

Each Defendant Vielated Securities Act Sections 5(a) and 5{¢)

89, The Commission realleges paragraphs | through 88 above.

G0, The Z1 purchase agreements, the SLI promissory notes and the Nelson Company
promissory notes are securities.

91.  Each Defendant, directly or indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of
transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer and sell
securities in the form of oral agreements, purchase agreements and promissory notes through the
use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise, and carried or cansed to be carried through the

mails, or in interstate commerce, by means or instruments of transportation, such securities for
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the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale, when no registration statement had been filed or
was in effect as to such securities.

92. By reason of the foregoing, each Defendant has violated and, unless restrained
and enjoined, will continue to violate Securities Act Sections 5{a) and 5(c) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a)
and 77e(c)].

FIFTH CLAIM

Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers Violated Exchange Act Section 15(a)

93, The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 92 above.

04, Each of Defendants Zufelt, Nelson, David Decker and Cache Decker, while acting
as a broker or dealer, made use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate
commerce to effect any transactions in, or to induce or attempt to induce the purchase or sale of,
any securities in the form of purchase agreements and promissory notes without being registered
with the C'ommission as a broker or dealer or an associated person of a registered broker-dealer.

95. By reason of the foregoing, ¢ach of Defendants Zufelt, Nelson, David Decker and
Cache Decker has violated and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate Exchange
Act Section 15(a) [15 U.8.C. § 78c(a)].

SIXTH CLAIM

The Deckers Aided and Abetted Violations of Exchanee Act Section 15{a

96.  The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 95 above.

97. Pursuant to Exchange Act Section 20(e) [15 U.8.C. § 78t(e}], the Deckers
knowingly provided substantial assistance to Zulelt with respect to his actions as an unregistered
broker or dealer of securities. The Deckers therefore aided and abetted the violations of Zufelt
and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to aid and abet violations of Exchange Act

Section 15(a) [15 U.S.C. § 780(a)].

25



CLAIM AGAINST RELIEF DEFENDANTS

98. The Commission realleges paragraphs 1 through 97 above.

99. Relief Defendants Jennifer Zufelt, Shae Morgan, Garth Jarman and Eric Nelson
received, directly or indirectly, funds and/or other benefits from Zufelt, which are either the
proceeds of, or are traceable to the proceeds of, unlawful activities alleged in this Complaint and
to which these Relief Defendants have no legitimate claim.

100. Relief Defendants Eric Nelson and Kevin Wilcox received, directly or indirectly,
funds and/or other benefits from Nelson, which are either the proceeds of, or are traceable to the
proceeds of, unlawful activities alleged in this Complaint and to which these Relief Defendants
have no legitimate claim.

Y. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:
L
Enter judgment in favor of the Commission finding that the Defendants violated the
federal securities laws and Commission rules as alleged in this Complaint;
II.
Permanently enjoin the Defendants from further violations of the federal securities laws
and Commission rules alleged against them in this Complaint;
11.
Order all Defendants and Relief Defendants to disgorge and pay, as the Court may direct,
all ill-gotten gains received or benefits in any form derived trom the illegal conduct alleged in

this Complaint, together with pre-judgment interest thereon;
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Iv.
Order all Defendants to pay civil monetary penalties pursuant to Securities Act Section
20(d) and Exchange Act Section 21(d)(3);
V.
Bar ¢ach of Zufelt, Nelson and the Deckers from serving as an officer or director of a
public company pursuant to Securities Act Section 20 (¢} and Exchange Act Section 21(d)(2),
and
VI
Order cach Defendant to make an accounting.
VII

Grant such equitable relief as may be appropriate or necessary for the benefit of investors

Tt{omas' . Melton (49 ,
Sgeurities and Exchange Commission
16&5}1" South Temple Street
Suite-1800

Salt Lake City, UT 84101

Tel: (801) 524-6748
Email: meltonti@sec.gov

pursuant to Exchange Act Section 21(d¥5) [15 U.S.C. § 78u{d)}(5)].

Respectfully submitted this 23rd day of June 2010,

Terence M. Healy

Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, NE

Washington, DC 20549

Tel: (202) 551-4640

Email: healyt@sec.gov

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
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